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INTRODUCTORY CHAPTER. EARLY

DISCOVERIES.





 




TWO hundred and sixty-five years

ago the site of the city of New York was a rocky, wooded, canoe-shaped,

thirteen-mile-long island, bounded by two salt rivers and a bay, and peopled by

dusky skin-clad savages. A half-dozen portable wigwam villages, some patches of

tobacco and corn, and a few bark canoes drawn up on the shore, gave little

promise of our present four hundred and fifty miles of streets, vast property

interests, and the encircling forest of shipping. What have been the successive

steps of the extraordinary transformation? 




If the lineage, education,

experiences, and character of a distinguished personage are replete with

interest and instruction, of how much greater moment is the history of a city,

which is biography in its most absolute sense? New York needs no introduction

to the reader. It occupies an individual position among the great cities of the

world. It is unlike any of its contemporaries. Its population is a singular

intermixture of elements from all nations. Its institutions are the outgrowth

of older civilizations; its wisdom and public opinion largely the reflection of

a previous intelligence. All the ideas, principles, feelings, and traditions

which ever made their appearance have here found a common field in which to

struggle for existence, and the result, in so far as it is developed, has

naturally been" the survival of the fittest." It would not be fair,

however, to demand full fruits from so young a tree. New York is a city in the

vigor of its youth, its final growth yet to be attained; thus its history the

more especially deserves careful and elaborate treatment. If we would correctly

estimate the men who laid its foundation stones, we must enter into the spirit

of the age in which they lived, and become to a certain degree familiar with

the world's progress at that period. If we would appreciate their proceedings,

we must learn somewhat of national characteristics and the practical operation

of government and laws, in the various countries which they represented. The

reader, therefore, is invited first to a brief ancestral disquisition, care

being taken to make plain the causes which led to the discovery and settlement

of Manhattan Island. 




The earliest record of the

existence of the American Continent is found among the literary legacies of the

Icelanders of the tenth century, who were superior to the continental people of

that age both in mental vigor and physical endurance. But their discoveries

were the result of haphazard adventure rather than scientific probabilities,

and their efforts at colonization were signal failures. From their geographical

works we find that they supposed these western lands to be a part of Europe;

and, while the accounts of their expeditions were carefully preserved, not a

line was committed to parchment until many centuries had passed, so that there

is very little reason for presuming that succeeding generations were materially

benefited by reason of them. 




Christopher Columbus appeared

upon the stage of action just as the world was waking from the long sleep of

the Middle Ages. Marco Polo had made his famous journey across the whole

longitude of Asia, and the manuscript account of his travels, dictated to a fellow-prisoner

in a Genoese prison, was beginning to attract attention to the vast and fertile

countries he described, — the cities running over with diamonds, emeralds,

rubies, and sapphires, the palaces with Horns and roofs of solid gold, and the

rivers hot enough to boil eggs. 




The new epoch in the art of

printing was also scattering information of various kinds. The books of the

ancients were reproduced, and those who could afford to read — for it was a

luxury confined entirely to the upper and wealthy classes — discovered that

geometrical principles had been applied to the construction of maps by Ptolemy

in the second century, and that the places of the earth had been planned out

and described according to their several latitudes and longitudes. Some geographical

knowledge was interwoven with a vast amount of absurd fiction and very little

ascertained fact, but the desire for more light became so great that those same

curious old maps were exhumed and copied and circulated. They must have been

appalling to the pioneers of maritime discovery, for they bristled from one end

to the other with horrid tonus and figures, and represented the Occident as the

home of demons. A mighty impulse had already been given to navigation by means

of the magnetic needle, and the newly printed ancient stories about

Carthaginian sailors who bad " voyaged through the Pillars of Hercules,

and found a strange country supposed to be Asia," and of adventurous

Greeks and Persians, who bad coasted Africa, filled the very air with speculative

romance. 




India beyond the Ganges was the

mythical land of promise. Its treasures came from band to band through caravans

and middle men and agents to Constantinople, with which city the Italian States

were in constant commercial communication. But some of the shrewdest of the

Venetian and Genoese merchants thought to remedy the evils of the painfully

long and perilous overland route, and projected enterprises by way of the

Persian Gulf and the Mediterranean and Red Seas. Tiny succeeded, but were obliged

to pay a heavy tribute in Egypt, and no Christian was at any time allowed to

pass through the Egyptian or Mohammedan countries. Thus the producer and the

consumer were effectually kept asunder. 




Constantinople fell in 1453, and

from that time the business monopoly of the Indies centered with the Venetians.

Venice became the great Western emporium, and attained such marvelous riches

and rose to such a height of power and grandeur as newer were equaled either

before or since. The costliness of her magnificent buildings, the elegance of

furniture and decorations, and the style of life among her citizens, was quite

beyond description. The learned Christians of Constantinople, who had fled

before the Turks into Italy, became her schoolmasters, and mathematics, astronomy,

and the art of navigation developed with singular rapidity. People began to

talk about a new channel of communication with the Oriental countries, where

they could change even the bark of trees into money. 




Columbus had for his birthright

the intellectual restlessness of the age. As a boy, his brain was filled with

unformed projects and scientific uncertainties. The new theories as well as the

new learning took root within his mind and grew with his growth. He read what

Aristotle had written about the small space of sea between Spain and the

eastern coast of India. He speculated over what Seneca had said about the ease

with which that sea might be passed in a few days by the aid of favorite winds.

He pondered again and again the hypothetical doctrine that the earth was a

sphere. He became a sailor, and applied his energies to the study of nautical

science. 




Meanwhile years rolled on.

Islands in the Atlantic were discovered, and the coast of Europe, from Iceland

to the Cape Verde Islands, was becoming known. Columbus had made several

important voyages himself. On one occasion ho visited Iceland, which was now a

dependent and neglected province of Denmark, and stayed sometime in the country

and conversed with the inhabitants. Whether he obtained any knowledge of the

early adventures of the Northmen it is impossible to determine. But after his

return his fancies seem to have taken more definite shape. The question finally

settled itself to his satisfaction that the glittering gold regions could be

reached by sailing due west; and then he conceived one of the boldest designs

in human history, and pursued it to its accomplishment with the firm resolve of

a lofty genius. It was from want of a correct estimate of longitude that, like

everyone else from Ptolemy down, he was so vastly deceived as to the size of

the globe. He was a clever politician, and danced attendance before incredulous

kings and supercilious courtiers until time whitened his locks, so pronounced

were his convictions, and so enthusiastic was he in the success of his

enterprise, could he but get funds to put it in execution. But alas! he could

not convince one man that it was possible to sail west and reach east. It

remained for him to find in a woman's mind the capacity to appreciate and the liberality

to patronize him; and at last he launched forth over unknown seas, trusting to

his own stout heart and a mariner's compass, and, reaching an unknown land,

planted the chief milestone in the advance of civilization. He aimed for

Zipango, and to his dying day believed he had found it, or its outlying isles,

very nearly where his calculations had placed it. Never was man's mistake more

prolific in great results. 




Europe was stunned with

admiration, and the Pope of Rome, who up to that time regarded himself as the

legal proprietor of all the real estate in Christendom, issued a bull, the

material parts of which are still extant, granting the new territory to Spain. 




It is interesting to note how all

the great plans and projects of the period tended and verged to one point.

There was a Venetian merchant living in Bristol, England, who had paid

particular attention to science, and who had long housed in his heart a scheme

of going to Cathay by the north. It was John Cabot. He was incited to active

effort by the prospect of obtaining spices and other valuable articles of trade

independent of haughty Venice. His son Sebastian, then a promising youth about

nineteen years of age, was, like his sire, stimulated by the fame of Columbus,

and anxious to attempt some notable thing. He was a scholar, had been

thoroughly drilled in mathematics, astronomy, and the art of navigation, and

accompanied the elder Cabot to the Court of Henry VII., in order to obtain the

royal consent to their proposed researches. Henry is well known to have been

one of the most penurious monarchs who ever sat upon a throne. He listened

graciously, and, upon condition that the whole enterprise should be conducted

at their own private expense, issued a patent guaranteeing protection and privileges.

But he cunningly reserved to himself one fifth of the profits. 




The Cabots first steered directly

for Iceland, where they stopped for a few days. For some years a steady and

profitable commerce had been carried on between Bristol and that country. Iceland,

although the heroic age of the Northmen had long since passed, was pretty well

peopled, and its inhabitants had many wants which their northern land was

unable to supply. The English sold them cloth, corn, wheat, wines, etc., and

took fish, chiefly cod, in exchange. Some of the Norwegian authors say that in

April, 1419, a heavy snow-storm destroyed more than twenty-five English vessels

on the coast of Iceland, which gives us an idea of how brisk their commerce

must have been. From this point the Cabots proceeded westward, toiling through

mountains of ice, but confident of final success. On the 24th of June they saw

land which they supposed to be an island, but, finding it ran a long distance

towards the north, and getting short of provision and into trouble with their

crew, they turned back to England. Cabot says in his journal that it was a

great disappointment to them. They were absent from England only about three

months, and had discovered a continent, but its bleak, uninviting coasts loomed

up only as a hateful barrier in the way of the diamond fields beyond. 




The Portuguese were at this time

the most enlightened nation of Europe. They had very materially enlarged the

scope of geographical knowledge by daring voyages along the coast of Africa,

under the direction of Prince Henry, third son of John the Great. Their vessels

were small but well-built, and their seamen dashed safely along tempestuous

shores and explored inlets and rivers. Don Emanuel the Fortunate made

prodigious efforts to extend the commerce and dominion of Portugal, and his pet

problem was a passage to India around Africa, The exploit was actually

performed in 1498 by Vasco da Gama. He returned to Portugal with his four ships

laden with spices, silks, and other attractive merchandise. All Europe was in

the wildest excitement, and the unsuccessful venture of the Cabots was hardly

noticed. A papal ball granted to Portugal the sole right to trade in the

Indies, which were treated as new discoveries. Alas for Venice! It was her

mortal stab, and from that day her prosperity rapidly waned. The Portuguese

established themselves at the East, made Cochin their capital, appointed Vasco

da Gama governor of the colony, and for nearly a century they supplied the

markets of Europe with the Indian produce. Thus the actual results of immediate

communication with the Oriental world completely overshadowed the possible

advantages to be reaped from lands lying to the west, which were still regarded

as merely the unsurmounted obstacle in the path to the Orient. The public could

not be satisfied by tales of snow-bound or rocky shores without so much as a

city or a castle over which to float a banner. 




But little by little the natural

wealth of these western regions began to be recognized. At what period the fisheries

of Newfoundland were first known to the hardy seamen of Brittany and Normandy

it is impossible to determine with accuracy; it must have been as early as the

commencement of the sixteenth century. Cod, mackerel, and herring were found in

abundance, and the demand for them, particularly in France, was greatly

increased by the fasts of the church. During the next few years the Spaniards

were busy following up the discoveries of Columbus by expeditions to Central

and Smith America, and occupation of portions of those countries. This led to a

neglect of their native soil, and seriously and mischievously retarded the rise

of Spain to a front rank among powers; but it enlarged the boundaries of

knowledge, and hastened the good time when the earth should assume its proper

form in the minds of men. Prior to the year 1522 the Straits of Magellan had

been discovered, the broad Pacific crossed, and the globe circumnavigated.

America stood boldly out as an independent hemisphere. 




And yet the avaricious merchantmen

and navigators have little heed to its possible resources. They scoured the

oceans in every latitude, from the Arctic regions to Cape Horn, searching for a

gateway through it to the jeweled cities of the East. The chivalric Francis I.

of France had in his employ, to accomplish certain deeds of daring, the Italian

navigator Verrazano, who in 1524 was sent on a voyage, with the above object in

view. He cruised along our coast from the Carolinas to Nova Scotia, landing

many times, and learning all that was possible, under the circumstances, of the

strange country and its inhabitants. He estimated that America was greater in

territorial extent than Europe and Africa combined, but expressed his belief

that he could penetrate by some passage to the Indian Ocean. The chart, which

his brother drew, contributed towards creating the supposition in Europe that

at about the 40th degree of latitude such a passage might be found. Verrazano's

letter to Francis I. has recently been shadowed with historic doubt, in a volume

of nearly two hundred pages, from the facile pen of Hon. Henry C. Murphy; but

its uncertain light is by no means extinguished. Neither is it less interesting

because of the poverty of actual proof in regard to its authenticity. One

paragraph relating to the " bellissimo lago at the mouth of the great

river" points significantly towards our own sylvan solitudes, as follows:




" After proceeding one

hundred leagues we found a very pleasant situation among some steep hills,

through which a large river, deep at the mouth, forced its way into the sea;

from the sea to the estuary of the river any ship heavily laden might pass with

the help of the tide, which rises eight feet. But as we were riding at anchor

in a good berth we would not venture up in our vessel without a knowledge of

the mouth, therefore we took the boat, and entering the river we found the

country on the banks well peopled, the inhabitants not differing much from the

others, being dressed out with the feathers of birds of various colors. They

came towards us with evident delight, raising loud shouts of admiration, and

showing us where we could most securely land with our boat. We passed up this

river about half a league, when we found it formed a most beautiful lake upon

which they were rowing thirty or more of their small boats from one shore to

the other, filled with multitudes who came to see us. All of a sudden, as is

wont to happen to navigators, a violent contrary wind blew in from the sea, and

forced us to return to our ship, greatly regretting to leave this region, which

seemed so commodious and delightful, and which we supposed must also contain

great riches, as the hills showed many indications of minerals." 




The letter was dated, " Ship

Dolphin, in the Port of Dieppe, Normandy," was a lengthy document, and,

besides furnishing curious evidence of the state of nautical science at that

time, gives us a fair picture of the North American Indian as first seen by

white men. We are induced to believe that the proprietors of Manhattan Island

were an amiable people, and had made some progress in the arts which tend to

ameliorate the savage. They were not hostile to visitors, and knew something of

agriculture. War was evidently unknown to them, as we can learn of no defenses

against hostile attacks. They were, doubtless, of that tribe afterwards called

Delawares, or, as they styled themselves, Lenni Lenape, which means original or

unmixed men. 




It was an entirely different race

that Champlain encountered in his wanderings into the State of New York, from

the north, in 1609. They were fierce and cruel warriors, somewhat advanced in

policy, arts, and agriculture, and had already instituted a confederacy of five

independent nations, with a sort of congress of their own, seeming to know

somewhat of civilized life and much of warlike achievement, long before they

became students of the white man's craft. They called themselves Aquanu

Schioni, or the United People. Iroquois is not an Indian, but a French name,

and is a generic term, having been bestowed upon that type of language, the

dialects of which were spoken by the Five Nations. We have strong reasons for

suspecting that during the interim between Verrazano's visit and the subsequent

Dutch settlement, the martial Iroquois extended their conquests from the inland

lakes to the Atlantic shores, leaving the deteriorating effects of barbarous

warfare upon the inhabitants, as, at the latter period, the river Indians and

many upon the sea-coast were found subject to the Iroquois, acknowledging the

same by the payment of an annual tribute. 




Of the subsequent career of

Verrazano very little is known. We catch fugitive glimpses of him only, enough

to excite but not sufficient to satisfy curiosity. There is evidence existing

that he commanded an expedition to the Indies for spices, in 1526, and it is

supposed that he was engaged also in piratical ventures. He disappeared from

public view, after having greatly advanced the knowledge of the new country and

given France some claim to an extensive and picturesque territory. 




In 1525 Estevan Gomez, a decoyed

Portuguese, who had been the chief pilot of Magellan on his southern voyage,

presuming that, since a strait to Cathay had been discovered in the south,

there must necessarily be one at the north, sailed in the interests of Spain to

find it. He is supposed to have cruised along our coasts as far as the Hudson

River, since Rio de Gamas was the first name of European origin which it bore,

and there is evidence of his having sailed to the shores of Maine, that land

being described upon the Spanish maps as the Tierra de Gomez. He, like

Verrazano, drew a chart and it was the more valuable of the two, as the former

was entirely unknown down to the year 1582, when it appeared in the Hakluyt

Collection of Voyages. Gomez's draft was embodied in the planisphere made by

Ribero, now preserved in the British Museum. At a congress held at Badajos

after Gomez's return, at which were present Sebastian Cabot, then pilot-major

of Spain, and all the most distinguished geographers of both Spain and

Portugal, the outlines of America were fixed for the first time, the chart of

Gomez was adopted by the official chart-makers, and from their works, with

occasional amendments, passed into all the charts and maps of the sixteenth

century, and some of the seventeenth. Beyond the information thus obtained,

Gomez's voyage was very meager in results. He caught a few Indians to carry as

trophies to the Spanish king, Charles I.; but when he arrived at Coruna, the

courier who was dispatched by post with the news, mistook slaves (esclavos)

for cloves, which was what Gomez bad promised to bring home with him should he

reach Cathay, and there was great excitement among the courtiers and nobles

until the ludicrous blunder was corrected. " Then," says the quaint

chronicler of the event, " there was much laughter." From that time

Spain had no confidence in any northern enterprise. " To the South! to the

South! " was the cry, and all the strength and resources she could spare

from her home wars was directed towards the prosecution of her discoveries and

conquests in South America. " They that seek riches, " said Peter

Martyr, " must not go to the frozen North! " 




For the next three fourths of a

century the wilds and wastes of North America received comparatively little notice

from the European powers. Tt was visited at different points and dates by

fishermen and private adventurers, and a few Hags were raised and colonies

planted, but its geography, farther than its coast-outline, remained almost

wholly unknown. During the interval France was too much occupied by her

fruitless expeditions into Italy, and her unequal contest with the power and

policy of Charles I. of Spain, and also by the civil wars with which she was

desolated for nearly half a century, to speculate amidst her miseries upon

possibilities, or lay plans for the future extension of her territories except

upon parchment. England, too, through most of that period, was agitated and

weakened by intestine broils or unwise interference in foreign affairs. Her immense

navy, which has since enabled her to give law to the ocean, was then scarcely

in embryo; and her commerce about the year 1550 had become so nearly extinct

that bankruptcy appeared for a time inevitable. Native produce was in no

demand, foreign importations had ceased, and a singular monopoly, consisting

chiefly of the factors of extensive mercantile houses in Antwerp and Hamburg,

had obtained control of her markets, and, vampire-like, was sucking her remnant

of strength. The statesmen and the merchants of the realm met in consultation,

and took counsel of the aged and justly celebrated Sebastian Cabot, who,

although he had thrice made the attempt to reach Asia by the north without

success, had never given up his hobby, that " some great good lay in store

for the world by the "way of the Polar Seas." He advised that the

northern coasts of Europe be explored for new markets, and an effort made to

reach Cathay by a Siberian route 




A company was accordingly formed,

which was called " The Society for the Discovery of Unknown Lands,"

and an expedition was fitted out in 1553, the expenses of which were mostly

borne by private subscription. It was placed under the command of Sir Hugh

Willoughby, and the bold Richard Chancellor was made pilot-major of the fleet.

The vessels became separated during a storm, and Willoughby with two of them,

after the most terrific hardships, reached an obscure harbor on the desolate

coast of Lapland, where he and his men finally perished. Chancellor, with

heroic persistence, pushed his way through frozen waters where sunlight was

perpetual, and landed in safety at Archangel. Russia was then scarcely known to

Western Europe. Chancellor made good use of his opportunities. He journeyed by

sledge to Moscow, and was invited to a personal interview with Emperor Ivan the

Terrible. A lucrative and permanent trade was established between the two

countries, which was the foundation of the commercial and political relations

that have continued with slight interruptions to the present time. By it a fresh

impulse was given to productive industry in England, and her credit was

improved, while intercourse with the English secured to the Russians

civilization, intelligence, and comfort. When Chancellor returned in 1554 to

England, he was the bearer of a letter from Ivan the Terrible to Edward IV. The

Muscovy Company, as it was afterwards styled, obtained a formal charter from

the Crown, dated February 6, 1555, in which Sebastian Cabot was named as its

first governor. It was granted a charter of privileges also by the Russian

Emperor, and commenced energetic operations. The same company, after a

brilliant career of more than three hundred years, is still in existence. For

full fifty years after its organization it absorbed the energy and the surplus

capital of the English nation; and nothing was attempted in America save a few

unimportant settlements, which came to nothing. 




Meanwhile the Dutch were

preparing for a marvelous leap into public notice. When, in 1580, Philip II.

united Portugal to Spain, and presently began his war upon England, his ports

were closed against English vessels. Therefore England was forced to buy her

spices, silks, and other Indian produce of the Dutch. But the revolt of the

Netherlands followed in quick succession, and Dutch vessels were excluded from

Lisbon, which had been so long the European depot for Indian wares. Although

the Dutch were not a creative people, there was no nation under the sun which,

being strongly pushed in one direction, was more sure to succeed than they. They

had begun already to reap large profits from their English trade. Prices had

gone up on all India goods; that of pepper by two hundred per cent. They were

compelled, as it were, to seek a direct passage to the Orient. Thus originated

the great commercial corporation known as the Dutch East India Company. Their

vessels followed in the track of the Portuguese around Africa. The directors

were mostly city nobles of the old school, and so prosperous became the company

that in twenty years they divided more than four times their original capital

among the shareholders, besides having acquired a vast amount of property in

colonics, fortifications, and vessels. 




While struggling for freedom amid

the smallest beginnings, and at war with the nation the shadow of whose haughty

flag waved over half a conquered world, and whose fashions and language

controlled the courts of Europe, the Dutch received the impetus which raised

them to the rank of a great power. More than one hundred Protestant families,

the very pith of the nation, were driven from Belgium by the Spaniards, and

found their homes in Holland and Zealand. The ruin of the ancient trade and

opulence of Belgium and the sudden expansion of the Dutch Republic were two

sides of the same event. But the exiled Belgians had no intention of remaining

permanently in Northern Netherlands. They breathed a new element of commercial

strength into the atmosphere, and at the same time were putting their shrewd

heads together to devise some method by which Belgium might be delivered from

the Spanish yoke. They well knew that the wide possessions of Spain were open

to the resolute attacks of a vigorous foe. Finally, they originated the

gigantic scheme of a warlike company of private adventurers, who should conquer

or ruin the Spanish settlements, seize the Spanish transports, and cut off all

communication with her Transatlantic dependencies. And they proposed to name

it, very appropriately, the West India Company. 




The obstacles in the way of

putting so vast a project into execution were very great. John of Barneveld was

at the head of affairs in the Dutch Republic, and advocated peace. He was too

practical a philosopher not to appreciate the enormous advantages his country

had just gained. The victorious return of the Belgians to their native province

would only remove commerce and political lead to the south, and was in no case

to be desired. He was fully determined to prevent the existence of any such

warlike corporation as the one under consideration. But the Belgians found energetic

allies. The lower classes in the Holland tow as favored them because that

Barneveld was hated for his aristocratic proclivities. Influential men from the

other Dutch provinces lent their aid because the Advocate aimed at an

overweening influence for Holland. The House of Orange gave them the hand of

fellowship because this great family aspired to wider dominion and to a less

limited authority than they had hitherto possessed. 




The leader of the Belgian party

was William Usselincx, an exiled Antwerp merchant of noble descent, whose force

of will was simply marvelous, and whose magnetic influence over his countrymen

was so great that they seemed to think with his brain and act with his hand.

His ready pen kept the political life of Holland in one continual ferment. He

was opposed to peace with Spain under any circumstances. He said the quarrel

was in its nature irreconcilable and eternal, because it was despotism

sacerdotal and regal arrayed against the spirit of rational human liberty. His

arguments were convincing, and his wit was as flashing and as quickly

unsheathed as a sword. 




The Dutch revolt was in itself

the practical overthrow of religious tyranny. It was a healthy and, for the

age, an enlightened movement. But theological disputes arose upon the ruins of

popular delusions, even among the Protestants themselves. Arminius, from the

ancient University of Ley den, undertook the difficult task of justifying

before the tribunal of human reason the doctrine of the condemnation of sinners

predestined to evil. He publicly taught, also, that the ministers of the church

ought to be dependent upon the civil authority. The municipalities caught at

the cleverly thrown bait, and attempted to free themselves from the pretensions

of the established clergy. Gomar, a celebrated scholar and a religious fanatic,

defended the doctrines of the established Protestant church and its principles

of ecclesiastical polity. He was an intimate associate of Usselincx; and both,

being courageous, crafty, farseeing men, were anxious to prolong a war which

would render the absolute government of the magistrates impossible, and

submission to the Prince of Orange a political necessity. 




Thus two parties were formed

which lasted down to the French Revolution, and oven at the present day there

remains of them nearly as much as of whiggism and toryism in England. They were

divided in almost every question of public interest. The Belgian party were

strict Calvinists and democrats, and their policy was to carry on the war with

Spain until Belgium should be freed. The Barneveld party were Arminians,

aristocrats, republicans, and quite content to give Belgium over to the

Spaniards. 




The question of the West India

Company was agitated for nearly thirty years. Its actual existence dates from

the year 1606. That is, commissioners were named from the Assembly at that

period, and discussions were frequent in regard to it. But Barneveld, who was

at the head of the Assembly, never seriously thought of continuing the

corporation He only wished to use it as a threat for the intimidation of Spain,

and it was chiefly by this menace that the twelve years' truce was

accomplished, which played so important a part in the history of the

Netherlands. 




The wrangling between the two

political parties grew more fierce as the details of the peace negotiations

became known. The river Scheldt was to be closed, Antwerp thus ruined, Belgium

given up, and all attacks upon the Spanish forbidden. The peace party

maintained the principle of excluding strangers from every employment, and of

concentrating all public offices in a few patrician houses of the old stock.

The impoverished, but proud and fiery Belgian exiles looked with dismay at

(heir gloomy prospects in the event of the truce being agreed upon, and put

forth all their energies towards the accomplishment of the West India Company.

Usselincx wrote a series of pamphlets, in style simple and effective, and which

belong to the most remarkable productions of that class oi' literature. They

created such a sensation, and attracted to such a degree the attention of

contemporary historians, that the most distinguished of them all, Emanuel van

Meteren, reprinted one of them entire. 




But the pamphlets, like the plan

for the West India Company, only served to accelerate the conclusion of the

truce. The Advocate made a singular use of his adversary's weapons. A cessation

of hostilities for twelve years was signed by the representatives of the two

nations in 1609. It was a signal victory for the aristocratic party. 




But ten years later the great

statesman paid for it with his life. No sooner had the Calvinistic faction

gained the ascendency than the West India Company became a fixed fact. And it

was due almost entirely to the herculean exertions of Usselincx. It is singular

that a man who has earned so honorable a place in history should be so little

known to the world. It is true that he never held an official position, yet he

founded two great commercial companies, which were so prolific in results that,

had justice been properly meted out, his name would have been immortalized. He

contributed more than any power to annihilate Spain. He brought to New York the

nation in which the principle of free communities — the vital principle of

American liberty --was carried out to its full extent. He made Sweden a

maritime power. And by the success of his enterprises, he was, in 1629,

instrumental in saving Holland from the Spanish yoke, — an act so vast in its

consequences that for it alone he deserves the eternal gratitude of all

Germanic Europe. 




In the meantime, and just about

the date of the conclusion of the twelve years' truce with Spain, the East

India Company had unwittingly discovered Manhattan Island, with which account

the next chapter opens. 




 


















 




CHAPTER II. 1609 1614. HENRY HUDSON.




 




OF the personal history of the

illustrious navigator Henry Hudson very little is known. The first view we have

of him is in the church of St. Ethelburge, Bishopsgate Street, London, in the

summer of 1607, whither he had gone with his crew to partake of the sacrament

before sailing under the auspices of the Muscovy Company in search of a passage

to "Asia across the North Pole." His whole life as known to the world

extends only over a period of about four years; and there is no portrait of

him, not even a contemporaneous print of doubtful authenticity. This is the

more remarkable as he lived in an age when it was quite the fashion to preserve

the pictures of celebrities. He appears before us a manly man in middle life,

well educated, courageous, cool, an expert in seamanship, and of wide

experience in his country's service. Who he was, has been a matter of much

speculation. His father was probably Christopher Hudson, one of the factors of

the Muscovy Company, and their agent in Russia as early as 1560, a personage

who a little later was made governor of the company, — an office he retained

with honor until 1601. The grandfather of the discoverer of New York is

supposed to have been the Henry Hudson who, in 1554, figured among the

founders, and was the first assistant, of the Muscovy Company. 




Hudson's voyage in 1607 resulted

only in his attaining a much higher degree of northern latitude than any of his

predecessors. 1607, The next year he sailed north again, but returned without

having achieved any further measure of success. 




The news that such voyages were

in progress traveled in due course of time to Holland, and rendered the Dutch

East India Company uneasy lest the discovery of a short route to India by their

industrious rivals should suddenly deprive them of a lucrative trade. The

learned historian, Van Meteren, was the Dutch minister at the Court of St.

James, and through him messages were transmitted inviting Hudson to visit

Holland. 




It was not long ere the famous

sea-captain arrived at the Hague, and was received with much ceremony. The

officers of the company met, and all that had been discovered concerning the

northern seas was carefully discussed. The Dutch had not been behind their

neighbors in daring exploits. Even while raising enormous sums of money towards

carrying on the war with Spain, they had bent every energy towards extending

their commerce. Merchant companies and private adventures had been encouraged

and assisted by the government. A number of expeditions had endeavored to reach

" China behind Norway," and trading monopolies had been established

in Guinea and at Archangel; in short, the sails of the nation whitened the

waters of almost every clime. The noblemen who directed the affairs of the East

India Company were as cautious as they were enterprising. Some of them had been

so influenced by the representations of the sorely disappointed De Moucheron,

Barentsen, Cornelissen, Heemskerck, and others, that they declared it would be

a waste of time and money to attempt again the navigation of the vast oceans of

ice. But Hudson stood before them full of enthusiasm, and expressed his ardent

conviction that Asia might be reached by the northeast. Peter Plantius, a

clergyman of the Reformed Dutch Church in Amsterdam, who had been engaged with

Usselincx in trying to found the West India Company, opened a correspondence

with Hudson, and sent him some of his own published works. Plantius had a

profound knowledge of maritime affairs, the result of unwearied investigations,

and he warmly seconded the effort to search for a northeastern passage. He said

that the failure of Heemskerck in 1596 was due to his trying to go through the

Straits of Weygate, instead of keeping to the north of the island of Nova

Zembla. 




After much delay, an expedition

was finally planned and Hudson placed in command. The Amsterdam Chamber

defrayed the expenses. They furnished a yacht, or Dutch galliot, — an awkward,

clumsy kind of a brig, with square sails upon two masts. It was a tolerably

safe craft, but a slow sailer, of forty lasts' or eighty tons' burden, and was

called the Half Moon. It was manned with a crew of twenty men, partly

English and partly Dutch sailors. Hudson was instructed to pass by the north

and northeast of Nova Zembla, towards the Straits of Anian, and to search for

no other routes or passages but the one in question. He obeyed his employers to

the letter, until the cold grew so intense that the seamen of the East India

Company, who had been accustomed to warmer climates, became chilled and unfit

for duty. Once or twice the vessel escaped as by a miracle from unknown

currents, then mountains of ice encompassed it, and the crew were so terrified

that they arrayed themselves in open rebellion. Hudson's only alternative was

to turn back. He at once gave his attention to searching for a passage to Asia

through the American Continent. He was familiar with Verrazano's charts and

reports, and he was a personal friend of Captain John Smith, whose adventures

in America were watched in England with critical interest. He had good reasons

for supposing that there was some communication with the South Sea at about the

fortieth degree of latitude. He accordingly sailed southward as far as

Virginia, then cruised along the shore in a northerly direction until the 2d of

September, when he anchored in sight of the beautiful hills of Neversink, which

hold the post of honor near the portals to our island. The next day he ventured

a little farther into the lower bay, and found what he supposed to be three

great rivers, one of which he tried to enter, but was prevented by " the

very shoal bar before it." 




On the morning of September 4th

he sent out a small boat to explore and sound the water, and a good harbor was

found where the sea "was four and five fathoms, two cables' length from

shore." A great many fine fish were also discovered. Indians were seen

along the shores, and towards evening they came prospecting around the Half

Moon in small canoes. They were dressed in skins, wore feathers in their hair,

and were adorned with clumsy copper ornaments. They brought with them green

tobacco, and offered it as a peace-offering. They were so civil that a party of

the sailors landed among them the next day, and were very well and

deferentially treated. In addition to tobacco, they seemed to have a great

abundance of maize, or Indian corn, dried currants, and hemp. 




On the 6th, John Coleman, an

Englishman, who had been with Hudson on his previous polar voyages, was sent

with four seamen to sound the Narrows. They passed through Kill von Kull to

Newark Bay. The sweetness of the inner land, and the crisp saltness of the

distant sea, were mixed in one delicious breeze, and they reported the country

" as pleasant with grass and flowers as any they had ever seen."

While returning to the Half Moon late in the afternoon, they were attacked by

some Indians in canoes, and John Coleman was killed by one of their arrows. The

Indians doubtless fired at random, as there is no evidence that hostilities

were continued, or any attempt made to capture the boat, which in the confusion

might have been done with the greatest ease. Night came on, and the frightened

sailors lost their light and their way, and were tossed about on the troubled

sea until ten o'clock the next morning, when, with the remains of their

murdered officer, they were at last received upon the Half Moon. Coleman was

buried upon a point of land nearby, which was called Coleman's Point. 




For some days afterward Hudson

spent his time in examining the shores, sounding the waters, and bartering with

the Indians. The latter were closely watched, but manifested no knowledge of

the fatal affray by which John Coleman had lost his life. On the 11th the Half

Moon was cautiously guided through the Narrows, and anchored in full view of

Manhattan Island. How little Hudson dreamed that it would one day become the

home of Europe's overflowing population! His mind was occupied with visions of

a different character. He was encouraged to believe that he had at last found

the passage to Cathay; for the river stretching off to the north was of such

gigantic proportions as to dwarf almost to insignificance the comparative

streamlets of the eastern continent! He determined to proceed at all hazards;

but the wind was ahead, and he could move only with the flood tide, hence it was

not until the 14th that he commenced the ascent of the river in earnest. 




If Hudson had been a trained

detective he could not have been sharper-eyed in his observations of the

country along his route than his circumstantial journal indicates. The Indians

hovered about his vessel, anxious to trade their produce for the buttons,

ornaments, and trinkets of the sailors. On the 17th he anchored at a point just

above the present city of Hudson, and the next day accompanied an old Indian

chief to his home on the shore. It was a circular wigwam, and upon the

Englishman's entrance, mats were spread upon the ground to sit upon, and

eatables were passed round in a well-made red wooden bowl. Two Indians were

sent in quest of game, and returned with pigeons. A fat dog was also killed,

and skinned with sharp shells. Hudson was served to a sumptuous repast, but he

declined an invitation to spend the night with his royal host, and the Indians,

supposing it was because he was afraid of their bows and arrows, broke them in

pieces and threw them in the fire. 




They proceeded on their way up

the river for a few days, but at last navigation became obstructed, and a boat

was sent eight or nine leagues in advance to measure the water. "Seven

foot and unconstant soundings" deterred the bold mariner from proceeding

farther. He had gone as far as he could, and Asia was not yet. There are

conflicting opinions as to the precise point reached by the Half Moon, but it

is generally supposed that it attained about the latitude of Castle Island,

just below Albany. 




The glowing description which

Hudson gave of the country and its resources was incorporated in an elaborate

work by the Dutch historian De Laet, one of the directors of the West India

Company some years later. Hudson wrote " that the land was of the finest

kind for tillage, and as beautiful as the foot of man ever trod upon." He

made himself, it seems, very agreeable to the natives. On one occasion he

persuaded two old Indians and their squaws, and two maidens of sixteen and seventeen

years, to dine with him in the cabin of his vessel, and said that " they

deported themselves with great circumspection." At another time he treated

some of the sachems to wine until they were merry, and one of them was so very

drunk that he could not leave the Half Moon until the next day. 




Hudson commenced his return on

the 23d, and, eleven days afterwards, " went out of the mouth of the great

river," and sailed for Europe. On the 7th of November he arrived safely at

Dartmouth, England, where he was detained by the English authorities, who

denied his right to enter into the service of a foreign power. He forwarded a

report of his adventures to the Dutch East India Company, with a proposal to

change six or seven of his crew and allow him to try the frozen seas again. His

communication did not reach Holland for several months, and his employers were

ignorant of his arrival in England. When they were at last apprised of the

fact, they sent a peremptory order for him to return with the Half Moon. He

would have obeyed, but the arm of the English law withheld him. The vessel,

however, was sent with its cargo to Holland. 




The Muscovy Company made

immediate arrangements to avail themselves of Hudson's valuable services, and

fitted out another expedition to the north seas. The expenses were defrayed by

private English gentlemen, one of whom was Sir Dudley Diggs. Hudson sailed

towards the northeast again until the ice obstructed his progress, then

proceeded westward, and after many trials and hardships discovered the bay and

strait which have immortalized his name; but his superstitious crew greatly

magnified the dangers by which they were surrounded, and at last arose in open

mutiny. They placed their heroic commander in a small boat, to drift helplessly

over the dreary waste of frozen waters, which are, alas! his tomb and his

monument. To fully appreciate the character of such a man as Henry Hudson, we

must never lose sight of the fact that the real hazards of those early voyages

were exceedingly great, and the imaginary perils infinite. Even now, after the

lapse of nearly three centuries, we cannot dwell upon his tragic fate without

mourning that such a life coidd not have been spared to the world a little

longer, and that he who accomplished so much for posterity should have had so

slight a comprehension of the magnitude of his labors and discoveries. 




The aristocratic Dutch East India

Company regarded all Hudson's reports with indifference. They had a great

aversion to America, and ignored it altogether. They had been coining wealth

too long and too easily from the immense profits on their India g Is to be

interested in anything short of the Orient. They actually sent again two

vessels to the North in 1611, to explore among the icebergs for a direct route

to Asia, hoping to soften the edge of former disappointments. 




But there were traders in the

Netherlands whose eyes were opened to a hidden mine of wealth through the skins

with which the returned Half Moon had been laden. Furs were much worn in the

cold countries of Europe, and the Dutch reveled in the costly extravagance.

These furs were obtained mostly through the Russian trade. From sixty to eighty

Holland vessels visited Archangel every year, agents were stationed at Novgorod

and other inland towns, and a brisk traffic was kept up with ancient Muscovy.

The wise Russian Emperor had courted this prosperous commerce, but had laid a

duty of five per cent on all imported goods, and allowed an equivalent amount

to be exported duty free. Whoever exported more than he imported paid a duty of

five per cent on the difference. 




If the same and similar goods

could be obtained in the New World in exchange for the veriest bawbles, and

command a remunerative market at home, it was a golden opportunity. At all

events, it was worth an investigation. A partnership was organized, and a

vessel fitted out and laden with small wares. A portion of the crew of the Half

Moon were secured, and the ship was placed under the command of an experienced

officer of the East India Company. Hudson River was again visited, and a cargo

of skins brought back to Holland. The account of the voyage was published, and

the friendly disposition of the Indians much descanted upon. 




It was at a period when the press

everywhere was teeming with pamphlets of travel and descriptions of the earth

as far as known. Geography was becoming with some few a life-study, and every

added grain of knowledge was seized with avidity. 




England had already begun to

think seriously of planting colonies in the New World. The timid -James I.,

perplexed to know how to provide for the great numbers of gallant men of rank

and spirit who had served under Queen Elizabeth both by sea and by land, and

who were out of employment, had permitted a company to be formed in London for

the purpose of settling Virginia, and in 1606 granted it a patent which

embraced the entire Atlantic coast from (ape Fear to Nova Scotia, excepting

Acadia, then in actual possession of the French. Many of the impoverished

noblemen immediately embarked for their new home, and had been tilling the

fertile soil of Virginia for three years prior to the discovery of Manhattan

Island. These general facts were well known in Holland, and the States-General

in 1611, through Caron, their ambassador at London, made overtures to the

British government to join them in their Virginian Colony, and also to unite

the East India trade of the two countries. But the statesmen of England were

unfavorably inclined towards either project. Their reply was, " If we join

upon equal terms, the art and industry of your people will wear out ours."






During the summer of 1611,

Captain Hendrick Christiaensen, while returning from a voyage to the West

Indies, where many Dutch vessels obtained salt every year, necessary for curing

herrings, found himself in the vicinity of the "great river," the

Hudson (which the Belgian Dutch called "Mauritius," in honor of the

Prince of Orange), and but that his ship was heavily laden would have ventured

in. As soon as he arrived in Holland he entered into a partnership with Adriaen

Block; they chartered a small vessel, took goods on commission, and sailed for

Manhattan. The Indians were glad to see them, and they had no difficulty in

freighting their craft with skins. They also persuaded two young Indian chiefs,

Orson and Valentine, to accompany them to Holland. 




Block wrote a long and graphic

account of his voyage, which was published and circulated in all the Dutch

cities. Its object was to awaken public interest in the American fur-traffic.

The two Indians were taken from place to place to create a sensation, and with

pretty good success. Erelong three wealthy merchants, Hans Hongers, Paulus

Pelgrom, and Lambrecht Van Tweenhuysen, formed a partnership and equipped two

vessels for Manhattan. They were the Fortune and the Tiger, and were entrusted

to the command of Christiaensen and Block. Presently some gentlemen in North

Holland sent two vessels to trade at Manhattan. One of them, the Little Fox,

was commanded by Captain John de Witt, an uncle of the celebrated Dutch statesman

who was grand pensionary of the Netherlands in 1652. The other was the

Nightingale, and was in charge of Captain Thys Volckertsen. Within three months

the owners of the Fortune and the Tiger sent out a third vessel, commanded by

Captain Cornells Jacobsen May, who ten years later was made Director-General of

New Netherland. Their success was flattering, for the Indians were captivated

by the trinkets which were offered in exchange for skins. 




It is worth noting that from the

very first the admirable commercial position of Manhattan Island indicated it,

as if by common consent, as the proper place where furs collected in the

interior could be most readily shipped for Europe. Christiaensen, having won

the confidence of his employers, became a legally appointed agent, and by means

of trading-boats visited every creek, bay, river, and inlet in the neighborhood

where an Indian settlement was to be found. He often took, also, long journeys

into the country on foot, and was everywhere treated by the savages with

kindness and consideration. 




One clear cold night in November

the Tiger took fire at its anchorage, just off the southern point of Manhattan

Island, and Block and his crew escaped with much difficulty to the shore. The

vessel burned to the water's edge, and as the other ships had all sailed for

Holland there was no possible hope of any assistance from white men before

spring. Block accepted the situation like a true philosopher, and erected four

small habitations on the island at about the present site of 39 Broadway. Of

their architecture we have no means of information, but they were doubtless of

the wigwam family. The Indians were hospitably inclined, bringing food out of

their abundance, and the sailors were enabled to exist with comparative comfort

until spring. Block was a plain man, of no inconsiderable tact and capacity. He

had been bred to the law, but had deserted his profession to study the science

of navigation. He must have had a versatile genius, for he set himself at work

with great energy to construct a new vessel upon the charred remains of the

Tiger. 




It was an arduous undertaking

with the slender materials at command. Indeed, it requires considerable stretch

of the imagination, in this age of mechanical luxury, to understand how such a

feat could have been accomplished at all. But it is one of the facts of

history, and early in the spring of 1614 the justly famous yacht of 16 tons'

burden was found seaworthy, and launched in the waters of the Upper Bay. It was

significantly called the Restless. Block set forth in it to explore the tidal

channels to the east, where no large ships had yet ventured. He passed the

numerous islands, and the dangerous strait called Hell Gate, and to his

amazement found himself in a " beautiful inland sea," which extended

eastward to the Atlantic. He was the first European navigator, as far as we

have any precise knowledge, whoever furrowed the waters of Long Island Sound. 




About the same date, Captain May

again reached the American shores and, hovering along the eastern and southern

boundaries of Long Island, proved that it was indeed an island. Finding his

business soon transacted at Manhattan, he visited Delaware Bay, and bestowed

his name upon its northern cape. Block, meanwhile, interested himself in the

peculiarities of the southern coast of Connecticut, and sailed up the great

Fresh I liver as far as where the city of Hartford now stands. He then

proceeded to Cape Cod, where he unexpectedly met Christiaensen. After some

discussion they finally exchanged vessels, and Block sailed for Holland in the

larger and safer craft of his comrade, while Christiaensen continued to make

explorations along the coast in the Restless. 




Thus was Manhattan Island again

left in primeval solitude, waiting till commerce should come and claim its own.

To the right, the majestic North River, a mile wide, unbroken by an island; to

the left, the deep East River, a third of a mile wide, with a chain of slender

islands abreast; ahead, a beautiful bay fifteen miles in circumference, at the

foot of which the waters were cramped into a narrow strait with bold steeps on

either side; and astern, a small channel dividing the island from the mainland

to the north, and connecting the two salt rivers. Nature wore a hardy

countenance, as wild and untamed as the savage landholders. Manhattan's

twenty-two thousand acres of rock, lake, and rolling table-land, rising in

places to an altitude of one hundred and thirty-eight feet, were covered with

somber forests, grassy knolls, and dismal swamps. The trees were lofty; and

old, decayed, and withered limbs contrasted with the younger growth of

branches, and wild-flowers wasted their sweetness among the dead leaves and

uncut heritage at their roots. The wanton grape-vine swung carelessly from the

topmost boughs of the oak and the sycamore, and blackberry and raspberry

bushes, like a picket-guard, presented a bold front in all the possible avenues

of approach. Strawberries struggled for a feeble existence in various places,

sometimes under foliage through which no sunshine could penetrate, and wild

rose-bushes and wild currant-bushes hobnobbed, and were often found clinging to

frail footholds among the ledges and cliffs, while apple-trees pitifully

beckoned with their dwarfed fruit, as if to be relieved from too intimate an

association with the giant progeny of the crowded groves. The entire surface of

the island was bold and granitic, and in profile resembled the cartilaginous

back of a sturgeon. Where the Tombs prison now casts its grim shadow in Center

Street, was a fresh-water lake, supplied by springs from the high grounds about

it, so deep that the largest ships might have floated upon its surface, and

pure as the Croton which now flows through the reservoirs of the city. It had

two outlets, — small streams, one emptying into the North, the other into the

East River. 




It was not an interesting people

whom the Dutch found in possession of Manhattan Island They have ever been

surrounded with darkness and dullness, and we can promise very little

entertainment while we call them up before us, with all their peculiarities of

life, language, and garb, and with a few touches sketch them as a whole. They

were tall, well made, broad of shoulder and slender in the waist, with large

round faces, mild black eyes, and a cinnamon complexion. The distinguished

scholar, Dr. O'Callaghan, says: " It was first supposed that this color

was the effect of climate, hut it has since been discovered to have been

produced by the habitual use of unctuous substances, in which the juice of some

root was incorporated, and by which this peculiar tinge was communicated to the

skin of the North American Indian." They lived in huts which were built by

placing two rows of upright saplings opposite each other, with their tops

brought together and covered with boughs. These dwellings were skillfully lined

with bark to keep out the cold. They were often large enough to accommodate

several families; but it must he remembered that each Indian only required

space enough to lie down straight at night, and a place to keep a kettle and one

or two other housekeeping articles. Windows and floors were unknown; fires were

built on the ground in the center, and the smoke escaped through a small

aperture in the roof. 




The Indians never located

permanently, but moved about from one place to another, selecting such points

as were naturally clear of wood. The men understood the use of the bow and

arrow, and spent much of their time in hunting and fishing. They made

fish-lines of grass or sinews, with bones or thorns for hooks. Wigwas

was a process of fishing after dark, similar to that termed bobbing at

the present day. They gathered shell-fish and oysters in great abundance, so

that, wherever the land has been found covered with the debris of shells, it

has been regarded as a certain indication that an Indian village once existed

there. The Dutch found one such locality on the west side of Fresh-Water Pond,

which they named Kalch-Hook, or Shell-Point. In course of time this name was

abbreviated into Kalch or Collech, and was applied to the pond itself. 




The women, as usual among

uncivilized nations, performed most of the field-work. The savages raised large

quantities of corn and patches of tobacco, and even pumpkins were cultivated in

a rude, primitive way. They used sharpened shells for knives, and with them cut

down trees and constructed canoes. Although they had no tables nor ceremonies

of eating, they were by no means indifferent to the quality of their food. It

is even reported by some of the Dutch pioneers in the wilderness that much of

their cookery was very palatable. Yockey was a mush made of pounded corn

and the juice of wild apples. Suppaen was corn beaten and boiled in

water. Succotash was corn and beans boiled together. Corn was often roasted

upon the ear. Fish and meat were boiled in water, undressed, entrails and all;

dog's flesh was one of their greatest delicacies. Hickory-nuts and walnuts they

pounded to a fine pulp, and, mixing it with water, made a popular drink.

Supplies for winter they lodged underground in holes lined with bark. But, like

the South American Indians, they had no letters, and had never broken in a

single animal to labor. They conveyed their ideas by hieroglyphics, like the

ancient Egyptians, and were extremely superstitious. 




Of dress both sexes were

extravagantly fond. The mantle of skins worn by the men was often elaborately

trimmed. The hair was tied on the crown of the head, and adorned with

gay-colored feathers. The hair of the women was dressed very much like Guido's

picture of " Venus adorned by the Graces." It was sometimes braided,

and sometimes flowing loose down the back with the appearance of having been

crimped. The same style may now be seen in some recent paintings made by

artists who have visited the Southwestern Indians, and it is not unusual in the

pictures of the old masters and in the busts of the Grecian sculptures. A

highly ornamented petticoat, made of whale-fins and suspended from a belt or

waist girdle, was very costly. Its value is said to have been equal to eighty

dollars of our currency. Chains of curious workmanship, sometimes only a

collection of stones, were much worn upon the necks of both men and women, and

wrought copper was suspended from their ears in a very Oriental manner. 




Gold was regarded by them with

contempt on account of its color. Red and azure were their favorite hues.

Wampum was their money, while at the same time it was used as an ornament for

their persons. It consisted of small cylindrical beads manufactured from the

white lining of the conch and the purple lining of the mussel shells. The

purple beads were worth just twice as much as white beads. From a circulating

medium among the Indians, it became the recognized currency of the early white

settlers, and the Dutch called it sewan. In like manner, a species of

shells are used at the present day as money in the interior of Africa. 




Public affairs were managed by a

council of the wisest, most experienced, and bravest of their number, called

sachems. They had no salary nor fees, to make office an object of ambition.

Authority was secured by personal courage and address, and lost by failure in

either of those qualities. Law and justice, in our acceptation of the terms,

were unknown to them. When a murder was committed, the next of kin was the

avenger. Fur minor offences there was rarely ever any punishment. Prisoners of

war were considered to have forfeited all their rights of manhood, and towards

them no pity or mercy was shown. With excessive thirst for excitement and

display, war became their common lot and condition. The whole tendency of their

lives and habits was to that point, and to be a great warrior was the highest

possible distinction. They had crude and confused opinions respecting the

creation of the world and a future existence, and hold vague ideas of a

discrimination between the body and soul, but to all systems of religion they

were entire strangers. Such was the race which gave way to modern civilization.






On Block's return to Holland,

with the Fortune (Christiaensen's vessel, which he had exchanged for the Restless),

his patrons received him with enthusiasm, and made immediate preparations to

avail themselves of a new feature of governmental favor towards enterprising

trade. 




The States-General, anxious to

encourage the foreign commerce 'of Holland, in January, 1614, had granted a

charter to an association of merchants for prosecuting the whale fishery in the

neighborhood of Nova Zembla, and for exploring a new passage to China. One of

the directors of this new company was Lambrecht Van Tweenhuysen, one of the owners

of Block's vessel, the Tiger. The importance of a similar grant of privileges

to those at whose expense new avenues of trade were being opened in the

vicinity of Manhattan was almost immediately discussed. A petition to that

effect was sent to the States. The States recommended it to the general

government. On the 27th of March the following was entered upon their records:

"Whosoever shall from this time forward discover any new passages, havens,

lands, or places shall have the exclusive right of navigating to the same for

four voyages." It was required that reports of discoveries should be made

to the States-General within fourteen days after the return of the exploring

vessels, in order that the parties entitled to them should receive the specific

trading privileges. When simultaneous discoveries should be made by different

parties, the promised monopoly was to be enjoyed by them in common. 




 


















 




CHAPTER III. 1614 1625. THE HAGUE.




 




THE Hague was the seat of

government in the United Provinces. It was a line old city, with broad,

straight streets, Lined with trees and traversed by canals. It owed its origin

to a hunting-seal built by the counts of Holland, and its name to the enclosing

haag or hedge which surrounded their magnificent park. It derived its

importance from the constant presence of gifted and illustrious men. The

princes of Orange, the officers of Stale, and the foreign ministers accredited

to the Republic, resided within its limits. It was the home of the ancient

nobility, and the favorite resort of persons of culture and distinction from

all portions of modern Europe. It was a city of palaces. Among its public

buildings was the Binnehof, or inner court, the ancient palace of the

counts of Holland. It contained a magnificent Gothic hall, the rival of

Westminster. Opposite was a smaller apartment, superbly decorated, in which

were held the "dignified and extraordinary " meetings of the

States-General. 




The management of the Seven

United Provinces was vested in five chief powers, — the States-General, the

Council of State, the Chamber of Accounts, the Stadtholder, and the College of

the Admiralty. The States-General had the most influence and authority, but it

was hardly a representative body. It was, more properly speaking, a deputation

from the Seven Provinces, who were bound to obey their constituents to the

letter. It was composed chiefly of noblemen. Twelve usually assembled at its

ordinary meetings. Prominent among them was the founder of the Dutch Republic,

— he who had organized a political system out of chaos; a man who had no

superior in statesmanship, in law, in the science of government, in

intellectual power, in force of character. It was John of Barneveld. He Lore an

ancient and knightly name. He was of tall and commanding presence. While he

cared more for the substance than the graces of speech, he was noted for his

convincing rhetoric and magnetic eloquence. He had now reached his sixty-eighth

year. He was austere and unbending in manner, with thin white hair pushed from

a broad forehead which rose dome-like above a square and massive face. He had a

chill blue eye, not winning but commanding, high cheek-bones, a solid, somewhat

scornful nose, a firm mouth and chin, the latter of which was enveloped in a

copious white beard, and the whole head not unfitly framed in the stiff, formal

ruff of the period. His magisterial robes were of velvet and sable, and thus we

have him in our mind's eye as he sat at the head of the oval council table on

October 11, 1614. 




In the midst of the transaction

of weighty affairs of state, a committee of Amsterdam merchants was announced.

They were admitted without delay. The chief speaker among them was Captain

Block He told his story of adventure and discovery, and displayed a

"Figurative map" of the country at the mouth of the Hudson River and

thereabouts, which had been executed artistically under his own supervision,

and which was spread upon the council table and examined with interest. Barneveld

asked many questions, all of which Block answered promptly and intelligently.

Barneveld remarked that, " in course of time those extensive regions might

become of great political importance to the Dutch Republic." Several of

the Statesmen expressed the same opinion. 




The merchants were before them to

petition for a special trading license to the Hudson country, and the "

high and mighty lords " were so favorably inclined, that their secretary

was at once ordered to draw up a minute of a trading charter, the original of

which is in existence, and records in almost illegible characters the first use

of the term New Netherland. This instrument was sealed and attested before the

applicants left; and by it they were granted the full and exclusive right to

trade in New Netherland for four successive voyages to be made within three

years from the 1st of January, 1615. It expressly forbade any other party from

sailing out of the United Provinces to that territory, or frequenting the same,

within the time specified, under pain of confiscation of vessels and cargoes,

and a fine of fifty thousand Netherland ducats to the benefit of the grantees

of the charter. It was a distinct act of sovereignty over the country between

New France and Virginia, which was called " New Netherland," a name

which it continued to bear for half a century. It was entirely without boundary

lines, and extended westward as far as the Dutch might be supposed ever to

explore. Yet the charter, after all, was only an assurance to the associated

merchants of a monopoly of trade against the competition of other Dutch

subjects, without, for the present, asserting the right to exclude the outside

world. No political powers were granted for the government of the new province,

and nothing was at the time contemplated but discovery and traffic. 




It is a singular coincidence,

that, during the same summer in which Block was exploring Long Island Sound,

Captain John Smith was visiting the bays and coasts of Maine and Massachusetts.

And about the very time that the States-General were granting the above

charter, the Crown Prince of England was confirming the name "New

England," which Smith had given to the territories north of Cape Cod. 




Block never revisited this

country, where he holds an honorable place in the annals of its discovery, and

where his name will ever be remembered as the first ship-builder. The

enterprising Van Tweenhuysen sent him north on a whaling voyage, as his

services were esteemed more valuable in that direction. 




The merchant company were not

slow to draw from their new possessions the largest returns. They fitted out

several vessels for the Hudson or Mauritius River. and sent with them some of

the shrewdest traders in Holland. They ordered Christiaensen to erect a

trading-house, which he did on an island a little below the present city of

Albany. It was thirty-six feet long by twenty-six wide, and around it was

raised a stockade fifty feet square, which was encircled by a moat eighteen

feet wide, the whole being defended by two pieces of cannon, and eleven stone

guns mounted on swivels. The post was called Fort Nassau, was garrisoned with

twelve men, and placed under the command of Jacob Eelkens, who had a rare

talent for making friends with the Indians. Christiaensen had scarcely completed

his work, when he was murdered by one of the young chiefs whom he had taken to

Holland three years before, thus finding a grave in the country to which he had

made more successful voyages than any one man up to that time. 




In the early part of the spring,

a building was erected on the lower point of Manhattan Island, to answer the

double purpose of storehouse and fort. It was a small structure of logs,

without any very practicable defenses of any kind. A few huts sprung up around

it alter this wise. A square pit was dug in the ground, cellar fashion, six or

seven feet deep and from twelve to thirty feet long, floored with plank, and

roofed with spars, bark and sods being added when necessary to exclude the

cold. The traders lived usually in their ships, but it was found convenient to

have a few men on shore to guard the warehouse, and to keep the furs gathered,

ready for shipment to Holland. 




Thus two years passed. No event

of any note happened until the spring of 1617, when Fort Nassau was nearly washed

away by a freshet on the breaking up of the ice on the Hudson River. The

traders desired to remain in the vicinity of this great eastern terminus of the

Indian thoroughfare, and built a new fort on an eminence, which the Mohawks

called Twass-gunshe, near the mouth of the Twasentha River. Soon after taking

possession of these new quarters, a formal treaty was concluded with the chiefs

of the Five Nations. The ceremonies were imposing, each dusky tribe having an

ambassador present. The pipe of peace was smoked and the hatchet buried, the

Dutch agreeing to build a church over the instrument of death, so that to

exhume it would be to overturn the sacred edifice. It was a politic movement on

the part of the Dutch, for they thus secured the quiet possession of the Indian

trade to the filling of their coffers, while the Indians were well satisfied,

for they had learned the use of fire-arms from the French, and were now eager

to get them and maintain their supremacy over the neighboring tribes. 




On the 1st of January, 1618, the

trading charter expired by its own limitation, and, when the associated

merchants tried to renew it, the States-General only consented to give a

special license to trade at New Netherland from year to year. The Dutch

Republic was once more in commotion from center to circumference, and the West

India Company was the chief point at issue. Since the ministers of state were

unable to prophesy probable results, they were careful not to involve

themselves in American affairs. Usselincx had been quietly at work since 1609,

and, although he was well aware that the establishment of the desired company

must necessarily be postponed until the expiration of the truce, yet there were

many obstacles to be removed, and, in his judgment, it was none too early to be

taking the preliminary steps. In all his movements he was effectually aided by

Maurice, Prince of Orange. 




The outward shape of the strife

was religious. A theological battle was in progress between Arminianism and

strict Calvinism. A conspiracy against Barneveld was rapidly approaching its

crisis. He was a liberal Christian, and had all his life advocated religious

toleration. The Belgians called him " Pope John." They charged him

with being a traitor bought with Spanish gold. Poisonous pamphlets appeared day

after day, until there was hardly a crime in the calendar that was not laid at

his door. It was a horrible personal assault upon the venerable statesman who

had successfully guided the counsels of the infant commonwealth at a period

when most of his accusers were in their cradles, and when mistake would have

been ruin to the Republic. He stood in the way of the formation of the West

India Company, and the Belgians were determined to get rid of him. Prince

Maurice was an ambitious general, and although Barneveld had been the first to

elevate him to his father's position as Stadtholder, and inspire the whole

country with respect for his military skill and leadership, yet the truce with

Spain deprived him of a large share of his authority and influence, and he felt

himself so thwarted by the power of the patriotic advocate, that he helped to

organize the campaign against him, making no secret of his hatred, and

determination to crush him from off the face of the earth. 




At last the Advocate was arrested

by the order of Maurice, and closely confined in one of the apartments of the

Prince. The shower of pamphlets and lampoons and libels began afresh, filled

with dark allusions to horrible discoveries and promised revelations. Even the

relatives of the fallen statesman could not appear in the streets without being

exposed to insult, and without hearing all manner tit' obscene verses and

scurrilous taunts howled in their ears. The clergy upheld Maurice, because,

having been excluded from political office, they were in active opposition to

the civil authorities. They helped to spread the story that Spain had bribed

Barneveld to bring about the truce and kill the West India Company; and also

that the Advocate had plotted to sell the whole country and drive Maurice into

exile. The nobles, the states, the municipal governments, and every man who

dared defend Barneveld, were libeled and accused of being stipendiaries of

Spain. The Avar waxed so serious that soldierwere kept constantly on duty to

prevent bloodshed in the streets. And at this critical moment, the weak king of

England inflamed the mischief by personal intermeddling. 




The National Synod of Dordrecht

was finally appointed, and foreign churches invited to send delegates. It came

together on the 13th of November, 1618, and sat for more than seven months, at

a cost to the Eepublic of a million of guilders. It resulted in a Calvinist

victory, the Arminians being pronounced "innovators, rebellious, leaders

of faction, teachers of false doctrine, and disturbers of church and

nation." 




The president said, in his

address to the foreign members at the close of the session, that "the

marvelous labors of the Synod had made hell tremble." Meanwhile, Barneveld

had been tor several months confined in a dreary garret room, and kept in

complete ignorance of even the most insignificant every-day events. On the 18th

of March he was brought to trial, but not permitted the help of lawyer, clerk,

or man of business. His papers and books were denied him, also pen, ink, and

writing materials. He made his own defense with indignant eloquence, but it

availed him nothing. Four days after the termination of the Synod, on the

morning of the 13th of May, the majestic old man was led into the vast hall, which

had so often in other days rung with the sounds of mirth and revelry, and

received the sentence of death. Then he was taken to a scaffold in the hollow

square in front of the ancient palace, and beheaded. He was within five months

of the completion of his seventy-second year. His property was confiscated to

the state, and his proud and prosperous family reduced to beggary. 




His principal adherents were

imprisoned for life. Hugh Grotius, who was a powerful opponent to the

prospective West India Company, was sent to the Castle of Loevenstein, which

stood on an island formed by the Waal and the Meuse. He was an illustrious

Dutch jurist and author, and influenced a large class of people who were not

directly involved in the theological controversy. He was so closely guarded in

his prison for a time, that not even his father or his wife were allowed an

interview with him. His wife at last obtained permission to share his fate. In

her society and in close study he passed two years, during which time he wrote some

very important works. His wife had been in the habit of receiving hooks in a

large chest, and, finding that the guards had grown somewhat careless in its

examination, she ingeniously managed one morning to have Grotius carried out in

it. He disguised himself as a mason, and with trowel and rule made his escape

to Antwerp. He afterward took up his abode in Paris, and was protected by the

French government. 




Immediately after the removal of

the chief antagonist, Usselincx started a subscription list for the West India

Company, hut it was filled out slowly. The States-General were unwilling that a

foreign element should create to itself so mighty an arm. They had no sympathy

with its grand purpose, which was to combat and worry Spain, and gather its

recompense from the spoils. The East India Company openly and persistently

opposed the whole project. For a year scarcely any progress was made. Finally

the English unwittingly added the straw which was to turn the scale. They had

taken cognizance of the Dutch traffic on the Hudson River, and instructed their

minister at the Hague to remind the States-General of the patent which James I.

granted to the Plymouth and London companies, and of its broad jurisdiction. He

was also directed to warn the Dutch statesmen of the impropriety of their

permitting Dutch vessels to visit English coasts for purposes of traffic. There

was an animated diplomatic correspondence on the subject, each government

trying to define its own position, and justify its own acts, and establish its

own rights. But no definite results were attained, save that the States-General

were sharp-sighted enough to discover that the only power by which they could

possibly hold New Netherland was absolute possession. In the newly drafted

constitution of the West India Company was a clause by which the corporation

would be obligated to people the so-called Dutch territory of North America.

The prospective company, therefore, was suddenly regarded with less disfavor.

In a few weeks it received decided and direct encouragement from the Dutch

government; and, after many birth throes, it became an accomplished fact. 




Probably no private corporation

was ever invested with such enormous powers. Hut the right to the vast and

valuable lands in America, with which it was endowed by the States-General, was

not legally established, and was the seed for a bountiful harvest of

discontent. The company was organized into almost a distinct and separate

government. It might make contracts and alliances with the princes and the natives

comprehended within the limits of its charter. It might build toils. It might

appoint and discharge governors, soldiers, and public officers. It might

administer justice. It might take any step which seemed desirable for the

promotion of trade. And its admirals on distant seas were empowered to act

independently of administration. It was required, it is true, to communicate

with the States-General from time to time of its treaties and alliances, and to

furnish detailed statements of its forts and settlements, and to submit to

their high mightinesses for approval, all instructions for prominent officials,

and apply to them for high commissions. It took upon itself, however, — and

without properly appreciating the magnitude of the undertaking, — one of the

greatest of public burdens, the naval war against a powerful enemy, and assumed

at once a thoroughly dangerous position. Warfare is always so manifestly

unprofitable, that to undertake it without the aid of government, in any event,

is sheer folly. "Needful assistance " was promised, but the company

soon found that they had no means of enforcing the fulfilment of such a

promise. And to increase their future difficulties, the Barneveld party

recovered strength, and, in course of years, found in the De Witts even more

powerful leaders than Barneveld himself had been. 




The West India Company was

modelled after the East India Company. It was guaranteed the trade of the

American and African shores of the Atlantic, precisely as the East India

Company had been granted the right to send ships to Asia, to the exclusion of

the other inhabitants of the Dutch provinces. It was divided, like the East

India Company, into five chambers, or boards, which were located in the five

cities of Amsterdam, the Meuse, North Holland, Zealand, and Friesland. Each of

these chambers was a separate society, with members, directors, and vessels of

its own. The capital of the company was six million florins, — about

$2,500,000. This sum, however, was not divided equally between the five chambers,

but Amsterdam had four ninths; Zealand, two ninths; and each of the other three

chambers, one ninth. In nearly the same proportion was the representation in

the general committee of nineteen directors who conducted the common affairs of

the company, and were called the "College of the XIX." They adopted

the democratic principles of the Belgians, and accorded to the shareholders a

voice in all important proceedings, which was a constant reproach to the East

India Company, and created no inconsiderable amount of slanderous

misrepresentation and cavil. 




As soon as the provisional

existence of the company had become a permanent one, there was a change in the

tone of public sentiment. Those who had used their pens with the utmost

virulence to prevent its accomplishment, turned about and declared it to be the

first move on the direct road to national prosperity. Its final organization

was delayed two years longer; during which time two questions occupied the

minds of all interested parties. " Shall the Guinea trade and the salt

trade be integral parts of the patent of the company? " The affirmative

gained the day. Then arose pecuniary complications. The opposition of the East

India Company had created a panic in regard to the credit and character of the

new company, and the directors were not able to collect a sufficient amount of

capital to commence operations until they had twice declared the list of

subscribers closed. The original charter was also twice amplified in certain

points of detail, and articles of internal improvement adopted.' It was

formally approved by the States-General on the 21st of June, 1623. 




The extraordinary company struck

out boldly. Its fleets often numbered as many as seventy armed vessels each. It

seemed destined to humble Spain, whether it suppressed or promoted piracy. It

met with many brilliant successes. Prizes were captured of such value, that,

during the first few years, the shareholders received from twenty-five to

seventy-five per cent upon their investments. Although the six millions of

capital had been brought together with difficulty, twelve millions were easily

added. The first ten years of its existence were marked by three events of

historic importance, the taking of Bahia in 1624; the capture in 1628 of the

Silver fleet, which consisted of large armed transports conveying silver and

gold from the South American mines to Spain; and the conquest of Pernambuco in

1630: all of which are fondly remembered in Holland. But its history might have

been foretold. There were defects in its organization which rendered it unable

to establish a thriving commerce or flourishing settlements. And the

possessions which it obtained were never governed properly. 




Within a month alter its

incorporation, three ships were sent to the West Indies, and an armed

expedition dispatched for an attack upon Brazil. New Netherland received only

such attention as was necessary to satisfy the States-General that it would

ultimately be colonized, according to contract, by the company. New Netherland

affairs were entrusted to the Amsterdam Chamber. The treasure was sufficient to

have enriched them if they had known how to develop its valuable trade and

fertile lands. They blundered, as bodies of men with more light and wider

experience have been continually blundering ever since their time. They desired

to make money in some more swift and easy manner, and failed to put their

efforts in the right place They however erected the indefinite territory into a

province, with a grant from the States-General of the armorial distinctions of

a count. The seal was a shield bearing a beaver proper, surmounted by a count's

coronet, encircled by the words " Sigillum Novi Belgi." 




The directors of the Amsterdam

Chamber were John De Laet, the historian, Kiliaen Van Rensselaer, Michael Pauw,

Peter Evertsen Hull't, Jonas Witsen, Hendrick Hamel, Samuel Godyn, and Samuel

Blommaert. They were all men of wealth and education. But they were none of

them very deeply interested in the wild Indian country. However, they took

measures to secure a party of Protestant Walloons, to send over to their new

possessions. These people were that port ion of the Belgians who were of Celtic

origin, and were ingenious as well as brave and industrious. They had applied

the year before to the English for permission to emigrate to Virginia, but the

conditions offered by the Virginia Company had been such that they had seen tit

to decline them. A ship called the New Netherlands, commanded by Captain May,

conveyed thirty of these families to our shores. They brought with them a

knowledge of the arts in which they were proficient, and were distinguished for

their extraordinary persistence in overcoming difficulties. A young man by the

name of Dobbs was one of the passengers in this vessel. He was the ancestor of

a large and influential family, among whom was Dr. Benjamin P. Aydelott, a

well-known physician in the time of Dr. Hosack and Dr. Francis. Upon their

arrival, two families and six men were sent to the great Fresh River, and the

remainder proceeded to the fort on the Hudson River, excepting eight of the

men, who remained at Manhattan. A new fort was immediately projected on the

alluvial soil now occupied by the business portion of Albany, and called Fort

Orange, in honor of Maurice, who was greatly beloved by the Belgians. 




About the same time preparations

were made for occupying the genial valley of the South or Delaware River. A few

traders selected a spot on its east bank, near the present town of Gloucester,

in New Jersey, and built a fort which they called Fort Nassau. Later in the

season other vessels came from Holland, bringing settlers, and about eighteen

persons were added to the colony at Albany. Adrian Joris, the second to Captain

May in command, sent his vessel to Holland in charge of his son, and stayed

with them all winter. Eelkens was arrested in January for imprisoning a Sequin

chief on board his yacht, and Peter Barentsen was made commander of the post in

his place. 




The income from the fur-trade of

New Netherland during that first year amounted to twenty-eight thousand

guilders. The West India Company, who were already elated with their victories

in Brazil, were gratified, and began to discuss the project of building a town

upon Manhattan Island, which was represented as a point of great natural

beauty, and favorably located for commerce. To test the disposition of

adventurers, they publicly offered inducements to such as might wish to

emigrate to America. Volunteers were not wanting in populous Holland, and three

large ships were soon freighted, also one fast sailing yacht. Six entire

families and several single men, forty-five persons in all, with household

furniture, farming utensils, and one hundred and three head of cattle, were

conveyed to Manhattan. One of the party, William Verhulst, succeeded Captain

May in the government, as the latter was suddenly called to Holland on

important private business. 




The year 1625 was marked by two

important European events which had a direct bearing upon the future prospects

of New Netherland. The first was the death of the accomplished Maurice at the

Hague. In him the West India Company lost one of their must zealous and

influential champions, and the national army their commander-in-chief. The

office of Stadtholder was conferred upon Frederick Henry, who excelled the

military Maurice in political capacity, and succeeded him as Prince of Orange. 




The other event was the death of

James I. of England, and the consequent accession of Charles I. to the throne.

England was already at war with Spain. James had been exasperated at the

failure of his projects in relation to the marriage of Charles with the

Infanta, Donna Maria, who subsequently became the wife of the Emperor of

Germany. He had been plunged into hostilities, which the resources of England

were illy able to sustain, and Charles had no sooner taken the scepter in his

hand than he commenced negotiating an alliance with the Dutch Republic against

the common enemy. Meanwhile he married Henrietta Maria, daughter of Henry IV.

of France. She came to England with a train of Roman Catholic priests and

attendants, which quickly stirred the English people into a commotion, and

intensified the hatred which they bore towards Roman Catholic queens. Charles

was a monarch of elegant, gentleman-like tastes, of dignified manners, and of

great obstinacy of purpose. He could not apparently conceive of any obligation

on the part of a king to his subjects. He set himself deliberately at work, in

defiance of all law, to introduce into his own country the system of government

which prevailed in France. He had not by any means the wretched excuse of a

wife's influence. Henrietta had indeed refused to be crowned, lest she should

join in the rites of the Church of England. But she was a mere child in years,

totally uncultivated, and ignorant of the language and history of her husband's

country, and knew nothing whatever about the Anglican religion. She had been

not only betrothed, but married to Charles by proxy. The Duke de Chevreuse, a

near kinsman of the king, acted in that capacity. At the ceremony, which took

place in the porch of Notre Dame, he was attired in black velvet, and wore a

scarf flowered with diamond roses. The bride wore a magnificent white satin

robe, threaded with gold and silver, and flowered with French lilies in gems

and diamonds. The Queen mother, Marie de Medicis, shone like a pillar of

precious stones, and her long train was borne by two princes of the blood,

Conde and Conti. But out of respect to the religious feelings of Charles, the

English ambassadors, and even the proxy himself, withdrew from the Notre Dame

during the concluding mass. The cortege of the bride landed at Dover, June 23d,

just after sunset. At ten the next morning the king arrived while Henrietta was

breakfasting. She rose from the table, hastily, and ran down a pair of stairs

to greet him, and offered to kneel and kiss his hand; but he was too full of

gallantry to permit her to do so, and caught her in his arms and folded her to

his heart with many loving caresses. She had been taught to say, "Sir, I

have come to your Majesty's country to be commanded by you," but the set

speech failed her, and she burst into tears. Charles became very fond of her

and took great pride in her beauty and musical powers, but he never discussed

matters of state with her. Pope Urban VIII. was exceedingly averse to the

marriage. He said, " If the Stuart king relaxes the bloody penal laws

against the Roman Catholics, the English will not suffer him to live long! If

those laws are continued, what happiness can the French princess have in her

wedlock?" These words were prophetic, as we shall see in future chapters. 




Finally, through much astute

diplomacy, the treaty of alliance, offensive and defensive, was concluded

between England and the United Netherlands; each nation agreeing to furnish

fleets for the purpose of destroying the Spanish commerce in the East Indies.

It was also stipulated that the war and merchant vessels of the two countries

should be free to enter the ports of each other. One of the first-fruits of

this new relationship was a meeting of the West India Company for the

transaction of special business. The moment had arrived when the colonization

of New Netherland might be attempted without probable English interference. A

system of government for the new province was considered, and various plans

discussed for inducing settlers to emigrate across the Atlantic. A governor was

named, and three weeks later received his appointment. It was Peter Minuet, of

Wesel, in the kingdom of Westphalia. He sailed from Amsterdam in December, in

the ship Sea Mew, Captain Adrian Joris, and arrived at Manhattan on the 4th of

the following May (1626). 




 




CHAPTER IV. 1626-1633. PURCHASE OF THE SITE

OF NEW YORK.




 




THE rocky point of Manhattan

Island, near what is now known as the Battery, was, on the 6th of May, 1626,

the scene of one of the most interesting business transactions which has ever

occurred in the world's history. It was the purchase of the site of the city of

New York. The West India Company had instructed Peter Minuet to treat with the

Indians for their hunting-grounds, before he took any steps towards the

erection of buildings. He accordingly made a somewhat superficial survey of the

island, which had been designated as the field for pioneer operations, and

estimated its area at about twenty-two thousand acres. He then called together

some of the principal Indian chiefs, and offered beads, buttons, and other

trinkets in exchange for their real estate. They accepted the terms with

unfeigned delight, and the bargain was closed at once. The value of the baubles

which secured the title to the whole of Manhattan Island was about sixty

guilders, equal in our currency to twenty-four dollars. On the part of the

Dutch, it was merely a politic measure to establish future amicable relations

with the natives of the country, although it was subsequently made the basis of

the company's claim to the territory. It was, in itself, a commonplace event;

but, in its relation to what has since taken place, it assumes peculiar

significance, and stands out in immortal characters as the chief starting-point

of the great commercial capital of the west. 




Governor Minuet was a man of rare

energy and fully equal to the situation. He had had some East Indian

experience, and, during the last two years, had spent several months in South

America. He was of middle age, hair slightly flecked with gray, a somewhat dull

black eye, and a full-sized robust frame. He was permeated with the spirit of

adventure, without being hampered with habits of luxury and indolence, like his

Virginia contemporaries. He was brusque, and coarse, and self-willed, but

kind-hearted, and was admirably successful in winning the confidence of the

Indians. His duties were multifarious, but not remarkably difficult, since the

people to rule over were few in numbers and obediently disposed. 




He organized the government of

the province as soon as he had obtained the title deed to Manhattan Island. The

supreme authority, executive, legislative, and judicial, had been vested in him

by the company, with an advisory council of five of tin' best men in the

colony. These were Peter Byvelt, Jacob Ellertsen Wissinck, Jan Jansen Brouwer,

Simon Dircksen Pos, and Reynert Harmenssen. He was entrusted with the

administration of justice, except in capital cases, when the offender, after

being convicted, must be sent with his sentence to Holland. The secretary of

the council hoard, and also of the province, was Isaac De Rasiers, a well-educated

young Hollander who arrived in the same vessel with Minuet. After him, in order

of position, was the Schout-Fiscal, a sort of civil factotum, half

sheriff and half attorney-general, and the special custom-house officer. Jan

Lampo, of Cantleburg, received the appointment; but he knew very little of law,

and was very inefficient in every particular. He was allowed to sit in the

council during its deliberations, but had no voice in official proceedings. His

compensation was in the civil hues and penalties, and such portion of criminal

tines and confiscated wages as the governor and council after prosecution might

see fil to bestow upon him. He had no part in captured prizes, and was

forbidden to receive presents under any circumstances. 




Minuet brought over with him a

competent engineer, Kryn Fredrick, who was to superintend the construction of a

fort, that being wisely deemed the first business to be dispatched. It did not

take long to discover a triangular spot of earth hemmed in by ledges of rock,

as if modelled by Nature herself for a fortress. It had a commanding view of

the Bay and Narrows, and was but a short distance from the water's edge This

was chosen; but when the work was accomplished it reflected no remarkable

credit upon its projectors, except so far as it responded to their immediate

necessities, for it was simply a block-house with red cedar palisades. 




About the same time was erected a

warehouse of Manhattan stone, having a roof thatched with reeds. It was

primitive even to ugliness, without one redeeming touch of architectural

finish, but we honor it as the pioneer of all the present long miles of costly

business edifices. One corner of it was set apart as the village store, and was

the depot of supplies for the colony. It grew erelong to be much haunted by the

Indians, who came to sell their furs and drink the " white man's

fire-water." 




In the course of a few weeks

several vessels arrived from Holland, each laden with passengers. The

population of the island was thus increased to nearly two hundred; thirty or

more cheap dwellings were built around the fort, and the prospect was animated

and encouraging. Governor Minuet, Secretary De Rasiers, and Sheriff Lampo

occupied a, habitation together for nearly three years. Negro servants performed

the labor of the household. 




The most notable building, as

well as one of the most useful, which was speedily erected, was a horse-mill.

It was located on what is now South William Street, near Pearl. The loft was

furnished with a few rough seats and appropriated to the purposes of religious

worship. Thus we may observe that, while the settlement of the province had

been undertaken with no higher aim than commercial speculation, the moral and

spiritual necessities of its people were not entirely overlooked. Two

"comforters of the sick" had been sent over with the governor, and it

was among their specified duties to read the Bible and lead in devotional

exercises every Sabbath morning. Two years later, the learned and energetic

Jonas Michaelius was employed to officiate at religious meetings and instruct

the children. He was a warm personal friend of Governor Minuet, and exerted a

very wholesome influence in the community. 




An event occurred late in the

autumn which, from its sad consequences, deserves special mention. A

Weekquaesgeek Indian came from West Chester, accompanied by his young nephew,

to sell beaver-skins to the Dutch. When near the Fresh Water Pond, he was met

by three of the governor's negro servants, who seized and robbed, and then

murdered him. The boy witnessed the scene and ran away, vowing vengeance. He

grew up to manhood, cherishing the terrible oath in his heart, and many long

years afterward carried into execution his Indian ideas of justice. The murder

was concealed from the authorities, and the murderers escaped punishment. 




The fur-trade was so prosperous

that the company were quite elated with their operations upon Manhattan Island.

Perhaps the reader will be grateful for a glimpse of this remarkable commerce,

as pictured in a letter from Peter Schagen of Amsterdam, dated November 5,

1626, in which he announces to the company the arrival of the ship Arms of

Amsterdam, direct from New Netherland. He writes: — 




"They had all their grain

sowed by the middle of May and reaped by the middle of August. Our people are

in good heart and live in peace there. They send thence samples of summer

grain: such as wheat, rye, barley, oats, buckwheat, canary-seed, beans, and flax.

The cargo of the aforesaid ship is: — 




7,246 beaver-skins. 36 wild-cat

skins. 




178 1/2 otter-skins. 33

minck-skins. 




675 otter-skins. 34 rat-skins. 




48 minck-skins. Much oak and

hickory timbers." 




 




The same letter contains a record

of the birth of the first girl in New Netherland, — Sarah Rapaelje, daughter of

Jan Joris Rapaelje, born June 9, 1625. 




The Dutch were by no means

ignorant of their near proximity to the English settlement at Plymouth, and

after a while began to discuss 1627. the propriety of establishing friendly

intercourse with their neighbors. Minuet wrote two letters to the governor of

Plymouth, one in Dutch and the other in English, which contained the most

polite expressions of good-will, and an offer of various kinds of goods in exchange

for beaver and otter skins and other wares. 




A courteous response came

promptly from Governor Bradford. 




He assured Governor Minuet that

for the current year they were fully supplied with necessaries, but would trade

at some future time should the rates be reasonable. He took care, however, to

throw out some very marked hints on the questionable propriety of the Dutch

traffic with the Indians within the limits of the king's patent. After writing

it in English, he translated his letter into the Dutch language, and sent both

copies. 




Governor Minuet wrote again in

August. His language was expressed in the same general friendly terms, but he

firmly maintained the right to trade in the disputed localities, quoting the

States-General and Prince of Orange as authority. As an evidence, however, of

continued good feeling, he sent to Governor Bradford " a rundlet of sugar

and two Holland cheeses.'" 




Governor Bradford replied with

great apparent deference of manner, only deprecating the " over-high

titles " which Dutch politeness required, but which Puritan usage

rejected, and repeated his warning respecting the boundary question, requesting

that a commissioner be sent to confer personally in the case. 




The secretary, Isaac De Rasiers,

was accordingly dispatched as ambassador extraordinary to Plymouth. He was a

man of fine address and pleasing manners, and in other respects well fitted for

this mission, which was of as much importance in those primitive days as the

more stately embassies are at the present time. The bark Nassau was brushed up

and freighted with a few. articles of trade, and manned by a retinue of

soldiers and trumpeters. Early in October he arrived at Manomet, the advanced

post of the English colony, near an Indian village at the head of Buzzard's Bay,

the site of the present village of Monument, in the town of Sandwich, and from

there he dispatched a courier to Plymouth to announce his presence in the

neighborhood. Governor Bradford immediately sent a boat for him and his cargo,

and he was escorted with many and imposing ceremonies to the town. He was

pleasantly entertained for several days, and sold a large quantity of Indian

corn, which enabled the English to better carry on their lucrative trade with

the natives. He established a commercial relation, which, but for the

subsequent petty quarrels, might have been mutually advantageous to the two

lone European colonies. It is interesting to know that the whole tonnage of New

England then consisted of "a bass-boat, shallop, and pinnace." 




When he returned to Manhattan, De

Rasiers brought another letter from Bradford to Minuet, in which, saving always

their allegiance to the king of England, he pledged the performance by his

colony of all good offices toward the Dutch in New Netherland. 




Just about that time, the

commander at Fort Orange committed a terrible blunder, whereby he not only lost

his own life, but imperiled the lives of all the settlers in that region. He

joined a party of Mohicans on the war-path against the Mohawks, which was in

disobedience of orders, for the Dutch were pledged to principles of neutrality

in reference to all differences among the Indian tribes. In the battle which

followed he was killed, also three of his men. 




His folly was particularly felt

in the sense of insecurity which it threw over the colony; and Minuet, although

he succeeded in restoring good feeling with the Mohawks, deemed concentration a

necessary policy, and recalled the families from the exposed points, Fort

Orange, Fort Nassau, and Verhulsten Island, to Manhattan, where they could be

better protected in their interests as well as their homes. Sixteen soldiers

only were left at Fort Orange, and the traffic to the South River was limited

to the voyages of one small yacht for the present. 




The crop of furs in 1628, amounting

to four ship-loads, yielded fifty-six thousand guilders; and two cargoes of

ship-timber from Manhattan Island sold at Amsterdam for sixty-one thousand

guilders. But, after all, the New Netherland colony was not self-supporting.

None of the soil was reclaimed, save what supplied the wants of a few farmers

and their families; and the only exports were the spontaneous productions of

the forest. The mode of life pursued by the people was irregular, and the

current expenses of the plantation more than the receipts. It was an

unpalatable fact. The company had won brilliant victories by sea, and

infatuating' wealth had poured into its treasury. Between 1626 and 1628, it had

captured one hundred and four Spanish prizes. The nation shared in the glory,

but the company alone received the spoils of this marvelous war. Its dividends

were advanced suddenly to fifty per cent. Insignificant indeed, in comparison,

were the returns from New Netherland. The very subject of North American trade

became painfully uninteresting, and the directors avoided allusions to it

whenever possible. Finally, at one of their meetings a plan was introduced for

a systematic and extended colonization of the whole province of New Netherland.

It was discussed at several subsequent meetings, and resulted in a selfish

commercial scheme, with a view to drawing private capitalists into the

company's ventures. 




The scheme was a charter of

Freedoms and Exemptions, matured and adopted by the company, and confirmed by

the States-General, on the 7th of June, 1627. It comprised thirty-one important

articles, and was remarkable for being tinctured with the peculiar social ideas

of that era, and of promising to transfer to America the most objectionable

features of the modern feudalism of Continental Europe. 




It offered to any member of the

West India. Company who should found a colony of fifty adults in any portion of

New Netherland, — except Manhattan Island, which was reserved to the company, —

and satisfy the Indians for a tract of land not exceeding sixteen miles on one

side or eight miles on both sides of a. navigable river, and extending inland

indefinitely, the title of Patroon, or 




feudal chief of such colony or

territory; and the colonists under such patroonships were to be for ten years

entirely free from taxation, but would be bound to the patroon in almost

absolute servitude. The chief himself would be invested with full property

rights, and granted freedom in trade, — except furs, which the company reserved

to themselves, — with sundry and various limitations, restrictions, and duties,

and the privilege of hunting and fishing within his own domain. The company

prohibited manufactures under penalty of the law, but promised protection to

the colonists and defense against all enemies; the completion of a suitable

citadel on Manhattan Island; and a supply of negro servants. Each patroon was

required to provide, immediately, for the support of a minister and

schoolmaster, and to make an annual return of the condition of his colony to

the local authorities at Manhattan, for transmission to the company. In all its

provisions, the charter carefully recognized the commercial monopoly and

political supremacy of the West India Company, and was in harmony with the

aristocratic sentiment which grew with the acquisition of wealth in Holland.

Almost all the real estate there, outside the walls of the towns, was in

possession of old families of the nobility, who were unwilling to part with any

portion of it. In the wonderful new country it was very apparent that a man

might become an extensive landholder and a person of importance with

comparative ease. While the company thus made great show of caring for the

rights of the aboriginal owners, and held out inducements of labor, capital,

religion, and education, it selfishly scattered the seeds of slavery and

aristocracy. 




As might have been expected,

there were men among the directors of the company who stood ready to seize upon

the choicest localities, to the discouragement of independent emigrants for

whom the charter was intended. Samuel Godyn and Samuel Blommaert, who had had

agents prospecting for months, purchased through them a beautiful tract of land

extending from Cape Henlopen thirty-two miles up the west shore of Delaware

Bay, and opposite sixteen miles square, including Cape May. They called it

Swaanendael. The title was attested by Governor Minuet and his council at

Manhattan, July 15, 1630, and is the only instrument in existence which bears

the original signature of that august body. The purchase was actually effected

on the 1st day of June, 1629, seven days before the bill became a law, and was

registered at Manhattan on the 19th of the same month. 




Kilien Van Rensselaer was one of

the oldest and wealthiest of the directors. He had been for many years a pearl

and diamond merchant, and had taken a very active part in the formation of the

West India Company. Several of his own vessels had been placed at the disposal

of the corporation, and he had twice advanced money to save its credit, and

hasten its final organization. He was descended from a long line of honorable

ancestors, and was himself an educated and refined gentleman of the old school.

Early in life he had married Hellegonda Van Bylet, by whom he had one son,

Johannes. In 1627, he was married the second time, to Anna Van Wely, and by her

he had four sons and four daughters. In the meantime he had sent an agent to

New Netherland, and traded with the Indians for land upon the west side of the

Hudson River, from about twelve miles south of Albany to Smack's Island,

"stretching two days into the interior." Soon after, he concluded the

purchase of all the land on the east side of the same river, both north and

south of Fort Orange, and " far into the wilderness." This great

feudal estate included the entire territory comprised in the present counties

of Albany, Columbia, and Rensselaer, and was named Rensselaerswick. Van

Rensselaer himself remained in Holland, but managed his affairs through a

well-chosen director. His sons took up their abode here after his death, and

were successive lords of the colony. Jeremias married Maria, daughter of Oloff

S. Van Cortlandt; and Nicolaus married Alida Schuyler. The Van Rensselaer name

has been handed down to us through every generation of men who have since had

their day in New York, and is interwoven with all that is historical in city

and State. The family brought with them the social distinctions of the

Fatherland. They brought massive and elaborately carved furniture, and large

quantities of silver-plate which bore the family arms. They brought portraits

of their ancestors, executed in a superior manner for the period, and many

original paintings. A manor house was erected, which in its internal

arrangement and finish was very similar to the Holland residence of the Van

Rensselaers. There the lord resided among his tenantry, and maintained the same

dignity and authority as the landed lords in Europe. 




Van Rensselaer had peculiar

facilities for peopling his new dominion, and sent out his own ships with

laborers and emigrants and implements of husbandry. There was system in his

management, and there was order and method in the entire regulation of the

colony itself. Hence it was prosperous, while the rest of the province was

disturbed by faction, inefficient rulers, and Indian wars. 




About the same time that

Rensselaerswick was founded, Michael Pauw purchased Staten Island, Hoboken,

Paulus Honk, and the Jersey shore opposite Manhattan, extending inland a great

distance. He gave it the pleasant-sounding name of Pavonia. He planted a little

colony, which was called The Commune, and the point where they first settled is

commemorated by the present romantic little village of Communipauw. 




Thus three of the most important

localities in the province were artfully secured before the rest of the company

were fairly awake. The storm of discontent which arose has scarcely been

equaled in the history of private corporations. The new patroons were accused

of fraud and double-dealing, and the quarrel assumed alarming proportions.

There was an indignant denial of any endeavor to take an unfair advantage of

the spirit of the charter, and. as a process of conciliation, other members of

the company were taken into partnership in the speculation. Van Rensselaer

divided his purchase into five shares, retaining two for himself He sold one to

John De Laet, the historian, and two to Samuel Blommaert. Godyn and Blommaert

divided their Delaware property with Van Rensselaer, De Laet, and Captain David

Pietersen De Vries. The latter had just returned from a three-years' voyage to

the East Indies, where he had been engaged in several notable maritime

enterprises. By request of the new firm, he took charge of an expedition to the

Delaware, conveying thither thirty settlers, with all the necessaries for the

cultivation of tobacco and grain. He landed them, directed in the work of

preparing their fields, and not until their first seed was sown did he turn his

face again to Holland. It was the purpose of these patroons to prosecute the

whale-fishery on the Delaware coast, copying after the French, who had made the

business so lucrative in a more northern latitude. 




This matter of feudal estates

took up the whole attention of the company for a time. Manhattan Island was

scarcely noticed, and improvements were entirely ignored. The houses which were

standing were only sufficient for the actual accommodation of the people; and,

as we have seen, they were exceedingly simple in construction. The best of them

were of hewn plank, roofed with reeds. Many were built entirely of bark. But

few trees as yet were cut away, except for shipment to Holland. Not a ridge was

smoothed down, and only a few little patches of earth had been brought under

cultivation. The fur-trade absorbed what there was of energy and industry. 




It was soon found that the

patroons were trading with the Indians independently of the corporation.

Another quarrel ensued, this time more immediately among the directors of the

Amsterdam Chamber. It was finally referred to the College of the XIX. The

patroons were self-willed and self-opinionated. They had enormous interests at

stake, and they persisted in their right to the fur traffic, under a too

liberal construction of the charter. Able lawyers were employed on both sides,

and the dispute became so violent that for a long time bloodshed was

apprehended. 




Meanwhile, two Belgian

ship-builders visited Manhattan and tried their skill in converting some of the

fine timber into an immense ship. Minuet encouraged them, and supplied them

from the company's funds. They accomplished the undertaking; and a vessel of

eight hundred tons' burden, which carried thirty guns, was launched in New York

Bay. It proved before it was finished more costly than had been expected; and

when the bills came before the directors of the company in Holland, the whole

proceeding was severely criticized. The States-General regarded it as a sample

of the bad management of the corporation. The shareholders grumbled because

they were obliged to help pay for such an exhibition of folly. The press

censured the Amsterdam Chamber in unsparing terms; and the people talked about

the ship in their workshops and stores, and speculated upon the wonderful trees

in America. It was full two hundred years, however, before another vessel of

such mammoth proportions was built in this country. The fame of this

extraordinary naval architecture was, as a matter of course, carried to the

ends of the earth, and excited the envy of all the European powers. And it

paved the way for the States-General to enter into a rigid examination of the

affairs of the West India Company. They decided against the patroons, who were

accused of being vastly more interested in filling their coffers with the

proceeds of private trade with the Indians, to which they were not entitled,

than in the proper colonization of the country. Minuet was suspected of working

in their interests, as he had officially ratified their purchases; and the

company was advised to recall him. It was accordingly done. Conrad Notleman was

appointed sheriff of New Netherland, and sent over to supersede Lampo; he was

intrusted with letters, instructing Minuet to report himself immediately in

Holland. 




Minuet left his government in the

hands of his council, of March 19. which Jan Van Remund was secretary, De

Rasiers having fallen into disgrace with the governor some time before. He

sailed in the Eendragt, March 19, 1632. Lampo and a number of

discontented families were also passengers. They were driven into Plymouth,

England, by a terrible storm, and were detained there on a charge of illegally

trading in King Charles's dominions. 




Minuet promptly communicated the

intelligence to the company, and also to the Dutch minister at Whitehall. The

latter hastened to Newmarket, where the king and his court were at that moment,

obtained audience of his Majesty, and remonstrated earnestly against the

injustice of the whole proceeding, asking for an order for the Eendragt's

immediate release. Charles declined giving it, on the ground that he " was

not quite sure what his rights were." 




The main features of the

minister's interview with the king were soon laid before the States-General. It

provoked another spirited correspondence between the two nations. The Dutch

statesmen claimed that they had discovered the Hudson River in 1609; that some

of their people had returned there in 1610; that a specific trading charter had

been granted in 1614; that a fort and garrison had been maintained there until

the formation, in 1623, of the West India Company, which had since occupied the

country; and great stress was laid upon the purchase of the land from its

aboriginal owners. 




The English based their claims

upon the discovery of America by Cabot, and upon the patents granted by James

I. They declared that the Indians were not bona fide possessors of the soil,

and that even it they were, they could not give a legal title, unless all of

them jointly contracted with the purchaser. They kindly offered to allow the

Dutch to remain in New Netherland if they would submit themselves to the

English government, otherwise they would not be permitted "to encroach upon

a colony of such importance as New England." 




Sir John Coke was the author of

most of the English state papers relating to this subject; but in June of the

same year, Sir Francis Windebanke was appointed Secretary of State. It was

hardly considered advisable to embarrass the foreign relations of a country,

when its own private affairs were already sufficiently complicated: hence

Charles contented himself with the assumption of superiority, and did not press

the question for a settlement. In the course of a few weeks the Lord Treasurer

quietly released the Eendragt. 




The interference of the

States-General did not settle the unfortunate disputes among the directors of

the company. Upon Minuet's arrival in Holland, commissaries were dispatched to

New Netherland to post in every settlement the company's proclamation,

forbidding any person, whether patroon or vassal, to deal in sewan, peltries,

or maize. The large appropriations of territory were bad enough, but not half

so exasperating as individual interference in a trade which was the company's

only source of profit, and through which alone it could hope to recompense

itself for the expenditure already occasioned by the unprofitable province of

New Netherland. " But," said Van Rensselaer, " we patroons are

privileged, not private persons." Again and again were the various clauses

in the charter analyzed and interpreted. It was a knotty tangle; and amidst the

wrangling over the water, the population of Manhattan Island diminished rather

than increased. 




 


















 




CHAPTER V. 1633 1638. GOVERNOR VAN TWILLER.




 




THE Amsterdam Chamber, having at

last, as was believed, obtained mastery over the patroons, decided to establish

forts and mills in New Netherland, in order to give wider scope to their

mercantile operations. Despite his private interests, Van Rensselaer had great

influence among the directors, and succeeded in procuring the appointment of

Wouter Van Twiller, one of his relations by marriage, to the command of the

colony. It was a politic measure as far as he was concerned; and it was a

stupid concession on the part of the company. 




Van Twiller had been a clerk in

the company's warehouse at Amsterdam for nearly five years, and in the mean

time had made two voyages to the Hudson River in the employ of Van Rensselaer,

who had selected him as a fit person to attend to the shipment of cattle to

Rensselaerswick. Van Twiller claimed to know all about affairs in New

Netherland. He was in point of fact a shrewd trader; but he had no practical

knowledge of government, and was ill-qualified to manage the general concerns

of a remote province, shaken with internal jealousies and threatened with

outside aggressions. He was a short stout man, with close-cropped sandy hair,

small pale-blue eyes set deep in a lull round face, and an uncertain mouth. He

was good-natured and kind-hearted, hut irresolute, easily swayed by stronger

wills, narrow-minded, slow of thought, word, and deed, and grievously deficient

in his understanding of men and their motives. 




He arrived at Manhattan early in

the spring. His vessel, the Zoutberg, captured a Spanish caravela during the

voyage, and anchored it safely in front of Manhattan Island. The new governor

was attended by one hundred and four soldiers, the first military force which

landed upon our shores. His advent was hailed with cheers and enthusiasm; and

with much wine and ceremony he was ushered into authority. His council

consisted of Jacob Hansen Hesse, Martin Gerritsen, Andries Hudde, and Jacques

Bentyn. They were men of comprehensive minds, who had been reared to habits of

industry in Holland, and were able to render material assistance to the heavy,

indolent Van Twiller. The secretary of the colony, Van Renmnd, was intelligent,

and also helped towards smoothing the pathway of that dull-witted ruler and

inexperienced traveler on the road to fame. Cornelis Van Tienhoven, a bright

young man of good education, was appointed book-keeper of monthly wages, and

Michael Paulusen was made commissary of Pauw's colony at Pavonia. Paulus Hook,

now Jersey City, derived its name from him. 




A few days after the arrival of

Van Twiller at Manhattan, a yacht was seen coining into the bay; and ere the

sun set Captain De Vries announced himself at the fort. He had left Holland

some time before the sailing of the Zoutberg, as early as November, and when he

had reached Swaanendael, found the little post destroyed, and the ground

bestrewed with the heads and bones of his murdered people. After various

stratagems, he succeeded in persuading some of the Indians into coming on board

his vessel, and through attractive presents drew from them the story of a

terrible tragedy. The Dutch, in keeping with their time-honored customs, had

erected a pillar, and fastened to it a piece of tin, upon which was inscribed

the arms of Holland. An Indian chief, thinking it no harm, had stolen the

shining metal to make himself a tobacco-pouch. Hossett, the commander of the

post, was indiscreet enough to express great indignation, and thereupon some

Indians who were particularly attached to him killed the chief who had

confiscated the tin. Hossett rebuked them for committing such a crime, and they

went away. But a few days afterwards the friends of the murdered chieftain

resolved to be revenged, and, coming suddenly upon the men as they were at work

in the tobacco-fields, massacred them all. De Vries wisely treated with the

same Indians for peace; and when they were at last induced to bring with them

their chief, he formed a circle after their own fashion, and gave them

blankets, bullets, axes, and trinkets, with which they were greatly pleased,

and they went away promising that he should not be harmed. 
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